Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-29-2014

Cedillo v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Idaho Appellant's Brief Dckt. 41683

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

Farmers Insurance Company of Idaho ("Farmers") appeals from the district court's denial of the Motion for Modification and/or Correction of Arbitration Award and the district court's award of attorney fees to Peggy Cedillo-Steele ("Cedillo-Steele"). (R., pp. 643-653.) The grounds for the appeal are there was an evident miscalculation of figures in the Arbitration Award regarding prejudgment interest and Cedillo-Steele was not entitled to attorney fees incurred in arbitration.

B. <u>Course of Proceedings.</u>

Arbitration of Cedillo-Steele's underinsured motor vehicle ("UIM") claim was commenced on November 20, 2012, before an arbitrator. (R., p. 119.) The evidentiary portion of the arbitration was completed on November 21, 2012. *Id.* The parties subsequently submitted simultaneous written closing arguments and simultaneous written responses. (*Id.* at pp. 119-120.)

The Arbitrator submitted his Decision and Interim Award on January 16, 2013. (R., pp. 119-156.) The total Interim Award was in the amount of \$406,700.12. (*Id.* at p. 155.) On April 29, 2013, the Arbitrator issued his Final Award. (R., pp. 158-171.) The Arbitrator determined that additional UIM benefits were owed in the amount of \$100,332.95 ("Adjusted Interim Award"). The Adjusted Interim Award took into account various payments made to Cedillo-Steele prior to the arbitration by the insurance company for the tortfeasor and underinsured motorist (her attorney, Jon Steele), prior payments of UIM benefits by Farmers under the UIM coverage, setoffs for contractual adjustments, apportionment of medical expenses to Cedillo-Steele's pre-accident condition and other adjustments. (R., p. 163.) In addition, the Arbitrator

awarded prejudgment interest in the amount of \$103,135.46 ("Prejudgment Interest Award"). (*Id.*) The total Final Award was in the amount of \$203,468.41. (*Id.*)

On July 24, 2013, the Arbitrator issued his Amended Final Award and, based on an evident miscalculation of figures, reduced the amount of accrued, unpaid interest and issued an Amended Final Award in the amount of \$101,947.96, which amount reflected payment made by Farmers of the Adjusted Interim Award of UIM benefits of \$100,332.95 and a recalculation of the Prejudgment Interest Award. (R., pp. 173-176.)

Cedillo-Steele filed, in district court, a Petition for Confirmation of Arbitration Award and Award of Attorney Fees on May 13, 2013. (R., pp. 6-88.) On August 16, 2013, she filed a First Amended Petition for Confirmation of Arbitration Award, Award of Attorney Fees, Unenforceability of Offset Clause and Bad Faith. (R., pp. 89-186.) On that same date, Cedillo-Steele filed a Motion to Confirm Arbitration Award and for Award of Costs, Attorney Fees, and Prejudgment Interest and an Amended Verified Memorandum of Costs, Attorney Fees and Prejudgment Interest on that date. (R., pp. 229; 187-228.)

On September 9, 2013, Farmers filed Defendant's Answer to Plaintiff's First Amended Petition for Confirmation of Arbitration Award, Award of Attorney Fees, Unenforceability of Offset Clause and Bad Faith and Demand for Jury Trial. (R., pp. 230-244.) On September 11, 2013, Cedillo-Steele filed the Affidavit of Jon M. Steele in Support of Plaintiff's Motion to Confirm Arbitration Award, Costs, Attorney Fees, and Prejudgment Interest. (R., pp. 245-259.)

On September 18, 2013, Farmers filed Defendant's Motion for Modification and/or Correction of Arbitration Award and a supporting Affidavit. (R., pp. 260-262; 263-374.) On that same date, Farmers filed Defendant's Motion to Disallow Costs and Attorney Fees and

Affidavit of Jeffrey A. Thomson in Support of Defendant's Motion to Disallow Costs and Attorney Fees. (R., pp. 375-377; 378-463.)

On September 25, 2013, Cedillo-Steele filed her Response in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Modification and/or Correction of Arbitration Award and supporting Affidavit. (R., pp. 491-500; 501-595.) She also filed a Reply Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Amended Verified Memorandum of Costs, Attorney Fees and Prejudgment Interest and Jon Steele's Affidavit in Opposition to the Motion to Disallow Costs. (R., pp. 625-639; 596-624.)

On November 14, 2013, the district court issued its Memorandum Decision and Order on Motions on Arbitration Award. (R., pp. 643-653.) The Decision and Order denied Farmers' Motion for Modification and/or Correction of Arbitration Award, confirmed the Amended Final Award, denied Cedillo-Steele's request for costs incurred in arbitration and awarded Cedillo-Steele's attorney fees incurred in arbitration in the amount of \$121,007.23. (R., pp. 643-654; 660-662.)

On December 11, 2013, a document entitled "Judgment" was filed by the district court. (R., pp. 660-662.) The Judgment was served on counsel of record the next day, on December 12, 2013. (R., p. 662.)

On December 11, 2013, Farmers filed Defendant's Notice of Appeal. (R., pp. 663-666.) The Notice of Appeal was not from the "Judgment" filed by the district court, but was an appeal from the Memorandum Decision and Order on Motions on Arbitration Award, as an Order confirming the arbitration award. *Id.* The Notice of Appeal was timely filed.

On December 19, 2013, the Idaho Supreme Court issued an Order Re: Final Judgment remanding the matter to the district court and suspending the appeal to allow for entry of a final judgment. On December 30, 2013, this Court issued its Order to Withdraw Order Re: Final

Judgment, resuming the appeal pursuant to Idaho Appellate Rule 11(a)(8) allowing for an appeal from the Order Confirming Arbitration under the Uniform Arbitration Act.

C. Statement of Facts.

On May 25, 2008, Cedillo-Steele was a passenger on a motorcycle being operated by Jon Steele. (R., p. 121.) Jon Steele sideswiped a concrete barrier, and although the motorcycle did not fall over, Cedillo-Steele was injured. *Id.* Jon Steele was determined to have been the sole cause of the accident. *Id.* Jon Steele was the tortfeasor.

Jon Steele was insured by Progressive but had only \$100,000.00 in bodily injury liability coverage and \$5,000.00 in medical payment coverage benefits. (R., p. 160.) Jon Steele was the underinsured driver.

Although not married at the time of the accident, Cedillo-Steele and Jon Steele were married on December 8, 2008. (R., p. 121.) Jon Steele became Cedillo-Steele's husband.

Jon Steele represented Cedillo-Steele in the arbitration, filed the Petition seeking confirmation of the arbitration award, and sought his attorney fees in the district court. (R., pp. 121, 119, 6 and 245.) Jon Steele was Cedillo-Steele's attorney.

Jon Steele's insurance company, Progressive, paid Cedillo-Steele the bodily injury liability limits of \$100,000.00 plus medical payment coverage benefits of \$5,000.00. (R., p. 160.)

At the time of the accident, Cedillo-Steele was an insured with Farmers. (R., p. 120.)

The policy provided UIM coverage. (*Id.*)

On July 28, 2009, Cedillo-Steele advised Farmers that she had settled her claim against the tortfeasor and underinsured driver, Jon Steele, for policy limits of \$100,000.00 and demanded payment of her UIM policy limits and medical payment coverage. (R., p. 165.) At

that time her medical expenses totaled \$53,048.62. *Id.* She did not, however, make any claim for past or future lost income. (*Id.*) Within 30 days, on August 25, 2009, Farmers sent Cedillo-Steele a check for \$25,000.00, representing payment of UIM benefits. (R., p. 166.) This payment represented Farmers' evaluation of damages in the total amount of \$130,000.00 (\$105,000.00 already received from Jon Steele's insurance company, plus \$25,000.00 in UIM benefits).

Following the accident, Cedillo-Steele sought chiropractic and acupuncture care. (R., pp. 127-132.) On November 24, 2008, approximately six months after the accident, Cedillo-Steele had a C7-T1 anterior cervical decompression and fusion. (R., p. 133.) Prior to the accident, Cedillo-Steele had had surgery on her right shoulder and pre-accident records revealed preexisting problems to the same area where she had her post-accident surgery. (R., pp. 122-126.) More than three and a half years after the accident, on February 15, 2012, Cedillo-Steele had a C5-6 anterior cervical discectomy and fusion. (R., at p. 135.) On May 22, 2012, nearly four years after the accident, Cedillo-Steele had her second surgery on her right shoulder. (R., p. 136.)

On October 18, 2012, after receipt for the first time of additional medical bills and medical records related to the belated surgeries, Farmers made an additional payment of \$155,000.00 in UIM benefits. (R., p. 160.) This payment represented Farmers' evaluation based on information not previously available that the UIM claim was worth \$285,000.00 (\$105,000.00 received from the tortfeasor's (Jon Steele's) insurance, \$25,000.00 previously paid UIM benefits and the additional payment of \$155,000.00 in UIM benefits).

¹ Cedillo-Steele's Farmers' policy contained an exclusion under medical payments coverage for motorcycle accidents and therefore she was not entitled to medical payment coverage benefits.

The Farmers policy contains an arbitration clause. (R., p. 121.) The arbitration was limited by agreement of the parties and by order of the arbitrator to the amount of payment due under the UIM coverage. (R., p. 120.) In his Interim Award, without regard to prior payments, setoffs or contract adjustments, the Arbitrator awarded medical expenses in the amount of \$121,700.12. (R., p. 155.) He also awarded lost income in the amount of \$135,000.00. *Id.* The award of lost income was based upon Cedillo-Steele's testimony at the arbitration and the testimony of Dr. Nancy J. Collins, a vocational rehabilitation specialist. (R., pp. 151-152.) Cedillo-Steele had not made a claim for lost income in her original UIM demand. The Arbitrator also awarded \$150,000.00 in non-economic damages for pain and suffering, loss of quality of life, physical limitations, aggravation of preexisting condition and scarring on the right hand. (R., p. 155.)

The Arbitrator's Final Award dated April 29, 2013, reduced the Interim Award by the amounts paid by Jon Steele's insurance company (\$105,000.00), amounts paid by Farmers for UIM benefits prior to the arbitration (\$180,000.00), contractual adjustments (\$19,234.81), a 25% reduction of some medical expenses based on an apportionment to pre-accident, preexisting conditions (\$1,631.36), and adjustment for the erroneous award of a specific bill (\$501.00). (R., pp. 160-162.) After making these adjustment the Arbitrator entered the Adjusted Interim Award, awarding \$100,332.95 as the amount of UIM benefits owed.

On March 25, 2013, Farmers paid the full amount of the Adjusted Interim Award of UIM benefits (\$100,332.95). (R., pp. 284-287.) This payment was made before the Arbitrator's Final Award dated April 29, 2013.

The Arbitrator originally calculated the Prejudgment Interest Award in the amount of \$103,135.46. (R., p. 170.) The Arbitrator determined that prejudgment interest commenced on

August 25, 2009, the date Farmers made its initial payment of \$25,000.00 in UIM benefits in response to Cedillo-Steele's letter dated July 28, 2009. (R., p. 166.) The Arbitrator applied the statutory rate of 12% to an "Initial Amount" of \$255,784.01. (R., p. 170.) This "Initial Amount" was calculated by reducing the Interim Award by amounts previously paid (from the date of payment) and by contract adjustments, uniform application of the 25% apportionment to preaccident, preexisting conditions and adjustment for the "A Caring Hand" bill. (R., pp. 169-170.) The Arbitrator calculated prejudgment interest on the "Initial Amount" of \$255,784.01 from August 25, 2009 to October 18, 2012 (1,150 days) when Cedillo-Steele received the additional UIM payment from Farmers of \$155,000.00. (R., p. 170.) This payment reduced the "Initial Amount" against which prejudgment interest would be calculated to \$100,784.01. Id. Prejudgment interest was then calculated on this "reduced Initial Amount" of \$100,784.01 from October 18, 2012 to the date of the Final Award, April 30, 2013 (194 days). Id. The Arbitrator determined that the amount of prejudgment interest from August 25, 2009 to October 18, 2012 was \$96,707.38 and the amount of prejudgment interest from October 18, 2012 to April 30, 2013 was \$6,428.08 for a total amount of the Prejudgment Interest Award of \$103,135.46. Id.

The Prejudgment Interest Award was calculated up to April 30, 2013, the day <u>after</u> the Final Award was issued. (R., p. 170.) The Final Award stated that prejudgment interest "shall continue to accrue on the Adjusted Interim Award of \$100,332.95 until the final award is affirmed by a judgment or paid, whichever sooner occurs." *Id.* The Adjusted Interim Award of \$100,332.95 was paid on March 25, 2013, 36 days <u>before</u> the Final Award was issued. (R., pp. 284-287.)

On May 20, 2013, Farmers filed a Motion for Reconsideration of Prejudgment Interest Award with the Arbitrator seeking adjustments of the award of prejudgment interest to account for the payment of the Adjusted Interim Award before the Final Award was issued. (R., p. 174.) The Motion for Reconsideration also sought recalculation and adjustment of prejudgment interest on medical expenses, lost income and general damages that had not yet been incurred or because the amount had not yet been determined by the Arbitrator and was therefore not mathematically calculable. *Id.*

The Arbitrator agreed that Farmers was entitled to a credit "on the final award of \$100,332.96 for the payment on March 25, 2013." (*Id.* at p. 175.) The Arbitrator determined that Farmers was entitled to a credit of \$1,187.50 for 36 days of interest at 12% per annum for early payment of the Adjusted Interim Award of \$100,332.95. *Id.* Nevertheless, the Arbitrator applied the payment and the credit to the Prejudgment Interest Award of \$103,135.46 and recalculated an unpaid balance of \$100,332.95 plus unpaid interest of \$2,802.51. *Id.* This left a balance owed on the entire Adjusted Interim Award and a balance of accrued unpaid interest of \$1,615.01.

Ultimately, the Arbitrator recalculated a corrected and Amended Final Award in the amount of \$101,947.96. *Id.* He determined that prejudgment interest would continue to accrue on the "unpaid" Adjusted Interim Award of \$100,332.95 from the date of payment (March 25, 2013) until the Amended Final Award is confirmed in a final judgment or paid, whichever sooner occurs. (*Id.* at pp. 175-176.) Farmers paid the corrected and amended Final Award of \$101,947.96 on September 11, 2013. (R., p. 655.) Cedillo-Steele applied that payment in a manner that created a continuing balance owed of \$5,608.30 with prejudgment interest accruing on that amount at \$1.84 per day from September 12, 2013. *Id.* She applied \$7,223.31 to "outstanding prejudgment interest" and \$94,724.65 was applied to "the Interim Award". *Id.* The

"Judgment" entered on December 11, 2013, awarded the Defendants \$5,608.30 "on the unpaid balance of the Interim Award and accruing prejudgment interest of \$132.48". (R., p. 660.)

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- A. Whether the District Court erred in denying the Motion to Modify and/or Correct the Arbitration Award due to an evident miscalculation of figures?
 - B. Whether the District Court erred in awarding attorney fees to Cedillo-Steele?

III. ARGUMENT

A. The District Court Erred in Denying the Motion to Modify and/or Correct Arbitration Award – There was an Evident Miscalculation of Prejudgment Interest.

"Judicial review of an arbitrator's decision is limited to an examination of the award to determine whether any of the grounds for relief stated in Idaho Code §§ 7-912 and 7-913 exists." *Cranney v. Mut'l of Enumclaw Ins. Co.*, 145 Idaho 6, 8, 175 P.3d 168, 170 (2007) (quoting *American Foreign Ins. Co. v. Reichert*, 140 Idaho 394, 398, 94 P.3d 699, 700 (2004)). "Although a reviewing court might believe that some of the arbitrator's ruling are erroneous, the decision is nevertheless binding unless one of the grounds for relief set forth in Idaho Code §§ 7-912 or 7-913 are present." *Id.* (quoting *Pacific Alaska Sea Foods, Inc. v. Vic Hoskins Trucking Inc.*, 139 Idaho 472, 474, 80 P.3d 1073, 1075 (2003).)

The Arbitrator's Award should have been modified and/or corrected because the award of prejudgment interest constituted "an evident miscalculation of figures" under Idaho Code § 7-913(a)(1) and/or is an award "imperfect in a matter of form, not affecting the merits of the controversy" under Idaho Code § 7-913(a)(3). The Arbitrator miscalculated prejudgment interest when he determined that Farmers was entitled to a credit against the Adjusted Interim Award of \$100,332.95 (the amount of the UIM benefits owed) for early payment of that amount on March 25, 2013, but subtracted payment of that amount from the Prejudgment Interest Award rather

than from the Adjusted Interim Award of \$100,332.95. (R., p. 175.) This evident miscalculation led to the following mathematical error in calculating the amount of the final award: rather than a calculation of zero dollars owed on the Adjusted Interim Award as of March 25, 2013 (\$100,332.95 minus \$100,332.95 equals zero dollars), the Arbitrator's miscalculation resulted in a balance owed on the Adjusted Interim Award of the entire amount of the award of \$100,332.95. This miscalculation led to the erroneous result that Farmers continued to owe prejudgment interest on the Adjusted Interim Award after it was paid in full on March 25, 2013 and, according to the Amended Final Award, continued to owe prejudgment interest on the entire Adjusted Interim Award from March 25, 2013 (the date it was paid in full) until it was paid in full . . . again. This miscalculation amounted to Farmers paying damages in the form of prejudgment interest on an award that had already been paid in full, resulting in a double recovery by Cedillo-Steele of portions of the prejudgment interest award. This subtraction error was compounded by the calculation of prejudgment interest on the Prejudgment Interest Award, something the Arbitrator never awarded in the first instance.²

Cedillo-Steele and the district court have further compounded the mathematical error by applying Farmers' later payment of the "corrected and Amended Final Award [of] \$101,947.96" to the prejudgment interest accruing on the miscalculated amount of the "unpaid" Adjusted Interim Award of \$100,332.95. (R., pp. 655; 660.) Cedillo-Steele and the district court calculated accruing prejudgment interest on the alleged "unpaid" Adjusted Interim Award to be

² Cedillo-Steele was awarded prejudgment interest on the Adjusted Interim Award (the amount of UIM benefits owed). (R., p. 170.) The Arbitrator never awarded prejudgment interest on the Prejudgment Interest Award. By subtracting payment from the Prejudgment Interest Award rather than from the Adjusted Interim Award, the Arbitrator either miscalculated prejudgment interest on an amount fully paid or miscalculated prejudgment interest on an amount (the Prejudgment Interest Award) for which no prejudgment interest was awarded. Either scenario arose out of a mathematical error.

\$7,223.31 (\$1,615.01 through March 25, 2013 plus \$5,208.30 from March 26, 2013 through September 11, 2013). *Id.* After first applying Farmers' second payment to this accrued, erroneously calculated prejudgment interest Cedillo-Steele and the district court applied the remaining amount of \$94,724.65 to the corrected and Amended Final Award, leaving a balance owed of \$5,608.30 upon which Cedillo-Steele claims prejudgment interest continues to accrue. (R., pp. 655-656; 658; 660-661.)

The proper calculation, and the calculation consistent with the Arbitrator's own ruling, is to subtract the payment of \$100,332.95 from the Adjusted Interim Award of \$100,332.95, leaving a balance due of zero dollars on the Adjusted Interim Award. The credit of 36 days of interest in the amount of \$1,187.50 awarded by the Arbitrator because of Farmers' early payment of the Adjusted Interim Award would then be subtracted from the Prejudgment Interest Award of \$103,135.46, leaving a balance of unpaid prejudgment interest of \$101,947.96 (which Farmers then paid in full on September 11, 2013) upon which no prejudgment interest would accrue. (R., p. 658.) This proper calculation reflects unpaid prejudgment interest only, upon which the Arbitrator did not award continuing (or any) accrual of prejudgment interest. This proper calculation eliminates continued accrual of prejudgment interest on any amount which is consistent with the relief given by the Arbitrator, and eliminates the continued accrual of prejudgment interest on a balance claimed to be owed by Cedillo-Steele only because she insists on compounding the original miscalculation by the Arbitrator.

Farmers made early payment on the Adjusted Interim Award. (R., p. 175.) When the Final Arbitration Award was issued, the Arbitrator calculated prejudgment interest on the Adjusted Interim Award through the day <u>after</u> the Final Arbitration Award. (R., p. 487.)

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