#### Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-29-2014

# Cedillo v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Idaho Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41683

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

Farmers does not address its failure to comply with Idaho Code § 7-912 and § 7-913. To allow Farmers to pursue this appeal would, as stated by the Arbitrator ". . . abrogate the statutory scheme under the Idaho Uniform Arbitration Act that limits the power of arbitrators to change an award under I.C. § 7-909, the power of a court to vacate an award under I.C. § 7-912, and the power of a court to modify or confirm the award." R., p. 551.

The 90-day limitation under Idaho Code § 7-912 and 7-913 must be strictly construed, and acts as an absolute bar to a motion to vacate that fails to meet the time requirements. *Driver* v. *SI Corp.*, 139 Idaho 423, 428, 80 P.3d 1024, 1029 (2003) citing *Bingham*, 105 Idaho at 39, 665 P.2d at 1049.

For this reason Farmers' challenge to the arbitration must be summarily dismissed.

#### F. The District Court Had No Authority To Modify Or Change The Arbitrator's Rulings.

Courts possess very limited authority to review arbitration awards under Idaho's Uniform Arbitration Act. Idaho Code § 7-901-922; *Mumford v. Miller*, 143 Idaho 99, 100, 137 P.3d 1021, 1022 (2006). The Arbitrator's decision is binding on the reviewing court both as to questions of law and fact. *Driver v. SI Corp.*, 139 Idaho 423, 426, 80 P.3d 1024, 1027 (2003). The district court properly concluded that it lacked authority to modify or change the Arbitrator's decisions as Farmers' argument was not an evident miscalculation of figures or mathematical error for purposes of Idaho Code § 7-913(a)(1). R., pp. 643-653.

#### G. The Arbitrator's Ruling Is Correct on both the Facts and the Law.

The *Greenough* case provides that prejudgment interest is calculated from the date that the insured has submitted a sufficient proof of loss which provides the insurer with enough information to allow the insurer a reasonable opportunity to investigate and determine liability. R., p. 71. As the Arbitrator pointed out, *Greenough* overruled that portion of *Brinkman v. Aid Ins. Co.*, 115 Idaho 346, 766 P.2d 1227 (1988) holding that interest is accrued on an award from the date of the accident. *Greenough v. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. of Idaho*, 142 Idaho 589, 130 P.3d 1127 (2006).

The *Greenough* rule is reasonable for a number of reasons. First, this case is a contract action, not a personal injury action. Although damages are defined as personal injury damages, the underlying relationship is contractual. In *Greenough*, the insurance contract addressed the format of the proof of loss and specified a time period for the insurer to investigate and determine its liability. In this case, neither the format nor the time period for investigation was addressed in the contract of insurance. If those issues had been addressed in Farmers' contract of insurance, the parties would be bound by their agreement. But without those standards the Arbitrator carefully and thoroughly analyzed the proof of loss information submitted and the date that Farmers had been provided sufficient information to investigate and determine its liability. In this case that date was August 25, 2009, the date on which Farmers mailed Cedillo a check for \$25,000.

#### H. The Prejudgment Interest Issue Is Moot.

As previously noted, Farmers has voluntarily made four (4) payments to Cedillo. These voluntary payments render Farmers' appeal moot. When a judgment debtor voluntarily pays the judgment, the debtor's appeal becomes moot, and it will be dismissed. *Quillin v. Quillin*, 141 Idaho 200, 202, 108 P.3d 347, 349 (2005). *See also*, 39 A.L.R.2d 153, § 955, *Defeated Party's Payment or Satisfaction of, or Other Compliance With, Civil Judgment as Barring His Right to Appeal*, cited with approval *International Business Machines Corp. v. Lawhorn*, 106 Idaho 194, 196, 677 P.2d 507, 509 (Ct. App. 1984). When a judgment debtor voluntarily pays the judgment, or in this case the amount justly due, the debtor's appeal becomes moot. *Bob Rice Ford, Inc. v. Donnelly*, 98 Idaho 313, 563 P.2d 37 (1977).

A judgment debtor who wants to preserve the right to appeal can pay the amount due under the judgment to the clerk of the court pursuant to Idaho Code § 10-115 with instructions to pay the money to the person who is determined to be entitled to it by the order of the court. *Quillin* citing *Radioear Corp v. Crouse*, 97 Idaho 501, 547 P.2d 546 (1975).

#### VII STANDARD OF REVIEW OF AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES

The district court, in its Memorandum Decision and Order on Motions on Arbitration Award accurately states the standards to be considered by it in the award of attorney fees. *See*, R., pp. 649-652. *See also, Parsons v. Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co.*, 143 Idaho 743, 747, 152 P.3d 614, 619 (2007). The standard of review on appeal is whether the district court abused its discretion. In order to determine whether an award of attorney fees is an abuse of discretion the Court should focus on a three part test as follows: (1) Whether the trial court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) whether the trial court acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion and consistent with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and (3) whether the trial court reached its decision by an exercise of reason. *Burns v. Baldwin*, 138 Idaho 480, 486, 65 P.3d 502, 508 (2003).

In addition, appellate court review is limited to the evidence, theories and arguments that were presented in the district court. *Meyers v. Hansen*, 148 Idaho 283, 292, 221 P.3d 81, 90 (2009). In order to preserve an issue for appeal, the issue must be raised in the district court. *St.* 

Alphonsus Diversified Care, Inc. v. MRI Associates, LLP, 148 Idaho 479, 491, 224 P.3d 1068, 1080 (2009).

### VIII ARGUMENT

#### A. Cedillo, As The Prevailing Party, Was Properly Awarded Attorney Fees.

The district court awarded Cedillo \$121,007.23 in attorney fees pursuant to Idaho Code § 41-1839. Farmers' claims that Cedillo is not entitled to any attorney fees, or in the alternative that the district court's award of attorney fees should be reduced. Farmers' argument is contrary to the facts of this case and legal precedent. As the district court noted "... the Court finds that [Cedillo] is the prevailing party in the arbitration . . .." R., p. 647. Farmers did not and has not disputed that Cedillo is the prevailing party. R., p. 647, n.5. Likewise, on appeal Farmers has made no contention that Cedillo is not the prevailing party.

Neither did Farmers challenge the time and effort devoted to Cedillo's case by Runft & Steele Law Offices and its staff. *See*, R., p. 652. ("Seeing no other argument in opposition to the amount of time and the amount of money that (Cedillo's) counsel billed in this matter and in consideration of all of the factors listed in Rule 54(e)(3), (Cedillo's) request for attorney fees is GRANTED IN PART..."

## B. <u>Farmers Failed To Preserve Its Alleged Errors Concerning An Illegal, Unenforceable Contract.</u>

As a general rule, this Court will not consider alleged error which was not preserved for appeal through an objection at trial. *State v. Longest*, 149 Idaho 782, 784, 241 P.3d 995, 957

(2010). "[R]equiring a contemporaneous objection prevents the litigant from sandbagging the court, i.e., 'remaining silent about his objection and belatedly raising the error only if the case does not conclude in his favor." *State v. Perry*, 150 Idaho 209, 224, 245 P.3d 961, 976 (2010) quoting *Puckett v. US*, 556 U.S. 129, 129 S.Ct 1423 at 1428, 173, L.Ed.2d 266 at 274 (2009).

Such is the case before the Court. Prior to initiating arbitration, Farmers had knowledge that Steele was the negligent party who caused the motorcycle crash of May 2008; Farmers had knowledge that Cedillo and Steele had married in December of 2008; and that Cedillo was represented by Steele. Farmers chose to remain silent on these issues. Not until September 18, 2013 did Farmers raise an issue concerning Cedillo's representation by Steele.

This is the sandbagging the United States Supreme Court condemns. *See*, *Neff v. Hysen*, 72 Idaho 470, 244 P.2d 146 (1952) ("Appellant complains that 'the court erred in permitting A.L. Merrill, attorney for defendant, who had been attorney for the plaintiff, to testify as a witness against the plaintiff and disclose confidential relations and still continue in the case as attorney, having theretofore cross examined the plaintiff and other witnesses and argued the case.' . . . No objection was made to Mr. Merrill continuing as attorney in the case and no ruling of the court invoked. There is no basis for this assignment of error.")

Likewise, after attorney Steele provided Farmers and the Arbitrator his Notice of Conflict Disclosure (*See*, pp. 1-2 above), Farmers, if it had any objection, made no objection. It now, belatedly, alleges error after it has lost the case. Farmers failed to preserve its alleged error concerning this issue.

As Farmers made no objection to Steele's representation of Cedillo it was reasonable for Cedillo to rely upon that failure to object.

## C. Farmers Failed To Preserve Its Alleged Errors Concerning The Amount Of Attorney Fees Awarded By The District Court.

Moreover, as the district court found, "there is no evidence in the record to suggest that [Cedillo's] counsel, Jon Steele, caused the accident in order to initiate a lawsuit against [Farmers]." R., p. 649. Further, the district court correctly determined that "[Cedillo's] contractual claim against [Farmers] was her separate property. Any proceeds acquired from the separate property after marriage, including the arbitration award, are [Cedillo's] separate property as well." R., pp. 649-650. Moreover, Farmers' alleged errors made in this appeal (see, Appellant's Brief, p. 22-28) concerning the amount of attorney fees awarded by the district court were not made in the district court. As the district court stated "Seeing no other argument in opposition to the amount of time and the amount of money that Plaintiff's counsel billed in this matter, and in consideration of all of the factors listed in Rule 54(e)(3), the Plaintiff's request for attorney fees is GRANTED IN PART, excepting the Plaintiff's request for one-third of the \$25,000.00 payment made on August 25, 2009." R., p. 652.

Farmers has waived these objections under the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure. There are two rules that require a specific objection to a claim for attorney fees or the objection is waived. Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 54(e)(6) requires an objection to attorney fees to be made specifically in the same manner as any other objection to costs under I.R.C.P. 54(d)(6). This rule provides as follows:

Rule 54(e)(6). Objection to Attorney Fees. Any objection to the allowance of attorney fees, or to the amount thereof, shall be made in the same manner as an objection to costs as provided by Rule 54(d)(6). The court may conduct an evidentiary hearing, if it deems it necessary, regarding the award of attorney fees.

I.R.C.P. 54(d)(6) provides that an objection or a motion to disallow costs and fees must be filed and served on the adverse party within 14 days of service of the memorandum of costs or they are deemed waived by the rule.

If the motion to disallow fees does not comply with this rule, the objection will be denied and the full amount of the request for attorney fees will be granted. *See, Nanney v. Linella, Inc.*, 130 Idaho 477, 943 P.2d 67 (Ct. App. 1997). In *Nanney* the Court of Appeals stated the following:

Rule 54(d)(6) "is designed to establish a deadline for informing the court of any objection to items claimed in the memorandum of costs" and "enables the trial court expeditiously to rule upon such objections and bring the case to a conclusion." *Operating Engs. Local Union 370 v. Goodwin Const. Co. of Blackfoot*, 104 Idaho 83, 85, 656 P.2d 144, 146 (Ct. App. 1982).

The Idaho Supreme Court and Court of Appeals have consistently held that the failure to make this timely objection results in a waiver of the objection to costs and attorney fees. *See, Conner v. Dake*, 103 Idaho 761, 653 P.2d 1173 (1982). *See also, Hooper v. State*, 127 Idaho 945, 949, 908 P.2d 1252 (Ct. App. 1995); *Fearless Farris Wholesale, Inc. v. Howell*, 105 Idaho 699, 704, 672 P.2d 577 (Ct. App. 1983); *Operating Engineers Local Union 370 v. Goodwin Construction Co. of Blackfoot*, 104 Idaho 83, 85, 656 P.2d 144 (Ct. App. 1982); other citations omitted.

In this case Farmers was served with Cedillo's Amended Verified Motion for Award of Costs, Attorney Fees and Prejudgment Interest on August 20, 2013. R., p. 2. The 14-day time limitation in which to object to Cedillo's claim for attorney fees expired on September 3, 2013. Farmers' Motion to Disallow Costs and Attorney Fees was filed in the district court on September 18, 2013. R., p. 375. Farmers' failure to file its motion to disallow Cedillo's attorney fees was waived as it failed to comply with I.R.C.P. 54(d)(6).

Additionally, Farmers now attempts to raise issues that were not raised or objected to in the district court. At page 23 of its Appellant's Brief, Farmers contends that the district court erroneously awarded attorney fees based upon "UIM benefits paid within 30 days of receipt of information sufficient to support payment." This contention is based upon smoke and mirrors. Farmers made this exact same argument before the Arbitrator and the district court but in regards to the prejudgment interest award. That argument has been continually rejected. Hence, Farmers has now, for the first time, made this argument in regards to the district court's award of attorney fees. This contention was not raised in the district court and has been waived.

Potential grounds for an objection to a cost memorandum are waived if they were not included in the stated basis for the motion to disallow costs and fees filed with the trial court. *Nanney v. Linella*, 130 Idaho 477, 943 P.2d 67 (Ct. App. 1997) and cases cited therein. Farmers has waived its objections to the amount of attorney fees awarded by the district court. Farmers made none of the challenges found in its Appellant's Brief at p. 22-28 in the district court.

Farmers' failure to comply with I.R.C.P. 54(d)(6) is a waiver of any and all objections to Cedillo's claim for attorney fees..

## D. <u>Farmers Has No Standing To Allege An Unenforceable, Illegal Contract Between</u> Cedillo And Her Attorney.

Standing is a jurisdictional issue. *Kinghorn v. Clay*, 153 Idaho 462, 465, 283 P.3d 779, 782 (2012). Farmers' contentions concerning the contract between Cedillo and her attorney should be dismissed, because Farmers has no standing to bring this issue before the Court.

The Idaho Appellate Rules authorize an appeal by "[a]ny party aggrieved by an appealable judgment, order or decree . . . of a district. . .court. . . ." I.A.R. 4. When an issue of standing is raised the focus is not on the merits of the issues raised, but upon the party who is seeking the relief. *See*, *Scona*, *Inc.* v. *Green Willow Trust*, 133 Idaho 283, 288, 985 P.2d 1145, 1150 (1999). Thus to have standing one must satisfy two requirements: First, one must be a party, and second, one must be "aggrieved." A party "aggrieved" has been defined as "any party injuriously affected by the judgment." *Federal Land Bank of Spokane* v. *Parsons*, 116 Idaho 545, 548, 777 P.2d 1218, 1221 (Ct. App. 1989).

Just as a third party allegedly injured by an insured is not a party to the insurance contract and has no rights under it (*Brooksby v. Geico General Ins. Co.*, 153 Idaho 546, 548, 286 P.3d 182, 184 (2012)), Farmers is not a party to the contract between Cedillo and her attorney and has no rights under it. Therefore, it follows that Farmers is not an "aggrieved party" and has no standing to bring this issue before the court.

## E. <u>Farmers' Contention That Cedillo's Request For Attorney's Fees Is Based Upon An Unenforceable, Illegal Contract Is Frivolous, Unreasonable And Without Foundation.</u>

Whether a contract is illegal is a question of law. *AED, Inc.* v. *KDC Investments, LLC,* 155 Idaho 159, 307 P.3d 176 (2013). Farmers' contentions are meritless. Initially, Farmers

failed to raise this issue in arbitration. Attorney Steele filed his Notice of Conflict Disclosure in the arbitration on March 1, 2012. R., pp. 605-607. Any objection Farmers may have had has been waived.

The district court summarily disposed of this issue. The district court stated the following:

The Court disagrees with [Farmers'] contentions that [Cedillo] is not entitled to attorney fees because [Cedillo's] counsel's negligence caused the accident. There is no evidence in the record to suggest that [Cedillo's] counsel, Jon Steele, caused the accident in order to initiate a lawsuit against [Farmers]. Additionally, there is no evidence that the underlying contract for representation itself was illegal.

R., p. 649.

Farmers' assertion is based upon faulty reasoning. In *Anderson v. Miller*, 559 N.W.2d 29 (Iowa 1997), cited by Farmers, the Iowa Supreme Court stated public policy bars recovery of a drunk driver in a personal injury case involving negligent entrustment of a pickup to that drunk driver.

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